72335-9

# 72335-9

No. 72335-9-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JOHN R. GIBBONS, DEC'D,

Appellant,

V.

THE BOEING COMPANY AND THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON.

Respondent,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Dorian D.N. Whitford, WSBA# 43351 Vail, Cross-Euteneier & Associates 819 Martin Luther King Jr. Way P.O. Box 5707 Tacoma, WA 98415-0707 (253) 383-8770 Attorney for John R. Gibbons

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Comes now the Appellant, John R. Gibbons (deceased), proceeding through his widow and beneficiary, Vivian Gibbons, Plaintiff below, by and through his attorneys of record, The Law Offices of David B. Vail. Jennifer M. Cross-Euteneier and Associates per Dorian D.N. Whitford, and hereby offers this brief in support of his appeal.

This case originates under RCW Title 51, the Industrial Insurance Act from an Administrative Law Review appeal from a April 1, 2013 Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("the Board") which granted summary judgment for the Employer, the Boeing Company ("Boeing"). Ultimately, the Board found that there were no genuine issues of material fact that would prevent the granting of Boeing's motion for summary judgment as the declarations, affidavits and exhibits showed that Mr. Gibbons died from a condition unrelated to his September 24, 1998 industrial injury and he died during a period when he was not permanently and totally disabled as a result of such industrial injury. The Board concluded that the Department correctly denied Mrs. Gibbons widow's benefits under RCW 51.32.050 and RCW 51.32.067.

Mrs. Gibbons appealed that decision to Superior Court asserting that the Board had erred in granting summary judgment for Boeing when there remained genuine issues of material fact.

The Superior Court affirmed the Board's decision after considering briefing and oral argument. Judgment was entered on June 6, 2014. Following Boeing's motion to correct a clerical error and inconsistency, an amended judgment was entered on July 14, 2014.

As will be described further below, the law and policy of the Act and evidence submitted to the Board leads to the conclusion that there remains genuine issues of material fact which should have precluded summary judgment. The Board erred in granting summary judgment to Boeing and the Superior Court erred in upholding that determination.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Superior Court erred in entering Finding of Fact 2 determining that the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals' April 1, 2013 Decision granting Boeing's motion for summary judgment is correct and adopting the Board's findings as its own.
- B. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in entering Finding of Fact 2.A. determining that the declarations, affidavits, and exhibits submitted by the parties and contained in the Certified Appeal Board record demonstrate there were no issues of material fact that would preclude granting a motion for summary judgment.

- C. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in entering Finding of Fact 2.B. determining that the Claimant, John R. Gibbons, was injured on September 24, 1988 while in the course of his employment with The Boeing Company when he twisted his back while exiting a vehicle. That injury proximately caused low back and lower digestive tract conditions.
- D. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in entering Finding of Fact 2.C. determining John R. Gibbons, voluntarily retired and removed himself from the labor force on September 1, 1993. He remained voluntarily retired through August 1, 2005.
- E. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in entering Finding of Fact 2.D. determining on August 1, 2005, John R. Gibbons died of lung cancer, a condition unrelated to his September 24, 1988 industrial injury.
- F. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in entering Finding of Fact 2.F. determining on August 1, 2005, John R. Gibbons was permanently partially disabled, but was not permanently totally disabled, as a result of his September 24, 1988 industrial injury.
- G. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in holding that as August 1, 2005. John Gibbons was a voluntarily retired worker as that term is defined by RCW 51.32.060(6) and WAC 296-14-100 in Conclusion of Law 2.
- H. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in holding that Vivian Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits within the meaning of RCW 51.32.050 in Conclusion of Law 3.
- 1. The Superior Court, and the Board, erred in holding that Vivian Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits within the meaning of RCW 51.32.067 in Conclusion of Law 4.

J. The Superior Court erred in holding that the Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals dated April 1, 2013 that affirmed the Department Order dated May 22, 2012 is correct and is affirmed in Conclusion of Law 5.

#### III.ISSUES

Whether the Superior Court erred in upholding the Board's decision granting summary judgment in favor of Boeing when genuine issues of material fact exist.

Whether there is substantial evidence to support the Superior Court's Findings of Fact when there is no evidence to support several of its findings.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In late September of 1988, John R. Gibbons suffered an industrial injury when he twisted his back getting out of a pickup truck while working as a carpenter for The Boeing Company ("Boeing"), a self-insured employer. CABR<sup>1</sup> at 117. Mr. Gibbons filed an industrial injury claim which was allowed on January 9, 1989 under claim number T-321420 by the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department"). CARB at 118. Benefits were provided and on October 12, 1993, Mr. Gibbons' claim was closed with a permanent partial disability award for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record created at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals is the certified appeal board record and will be cited to as CABR followed by the page number.

low back impairment of category 3 under WAC 296-20-280, which amounted to \$9,000. CABR at 119.

Mr. Gibbons' condition resulting from his industrial injury became aggravated and his claim was reopened for further treatment effective April 6, 1995. CABR at 121. Mr. Gibbons died on August 1, 2005. CABR at 122. On June 2, 2006, the Department again closed Mr. Gibbons' claim with no additional permanent partial impairments. CABR 125-26. Prior to this claim closure, there had been a determination that Mr. Gibbons had voluntarily retired, and was thus not entitled to wage replacement benefits. CABR 106-110; 184.

On July 26, 2006, Mrs. Gibbons, through counsel, appealed the June 2, 2006 closing order alleging that Mr. Gibbons was entitled to an increased permanent partial disability award. At that time, the parties agreed that the issues on appeal were limited to increased permanent partial impairment and allowance of certain conditions. CABR 187. On May 16, 2008, the Board issued a Decision and Order which reversed the June 2, 2006 Department order, and directed Boeing to pay Mr. Gibbon a permanent partial disability award for Category 6 permanent lumbosacral impairment. CABR 127-137. The Board did not make any findings or conclusions regarding any entitlement to widow's benefits. *Id.* Ultimately, after cross-appeals to Superior Court, the Department issued a

January 18, 2012 order awarding Mr. Gibbons multiple permanent partial disability awards, as described below. CABR 148-49. Mr. Gibbons was never placed on a pension for permanent total disability.

Vivian Gibbons is the widow and beneficiary of Mr. Gibbons. CABR 190, 192. Mrs. Gibbons applied for widow's benefits under Mr. Gibbons' claim with the Department on July 21, 2006. CABR 194. This was after the Department issued its closing order dated June 2, 2006. On June 26, 2008, the Department issued a ministerial order that carried out the instructions of the Board contained in the Board's May 16, 2008 Decision and Order (As of the Department's June 26, 2008 order, the Board's May 16, 2008 Decision and Order was still on appeal in King County Superior Court.); the Department's June 26, 2008 order also denied Mrs. Gibbons' application for widow's benefits. CABR 140-41.

On October 13, 2011, the Department issued an order that carried out the instructions of the Superior Court, reversing the June 26, 2008 Department order, closing the claim, and ordering the payment of permanent partial disability awards of category 3 for low back impairment and category 2 for lower digestive tract impairment; the October 13, 2011 Department order also denied Mrs. Gibbons' application for widow's benefits. CABR 196-97. That order was protested by Mrs. Gibbons. CABR 200.

Following Mrs. Gibbons' protest of the Department's October 13, 2011 order, the Department issued two orders: on January 13, 2012, the Department issued an order denying widow's benefits, CABR 146, and on January 18, 2012, the Department issued an order reversing the October 13, 2011 order and again carrying out the instructions of the Superior Court (i.e. reversing the June 26, 2008 Department order, closing the claim, and ordering payment of permanent partial disability awards of category 3 for the low back and category 2 for the lower digestive tract). CABR 148-49.

Mrs. Gibbons protested the Department's January 13, 2012 order, and on May 22, 2012, the Department issued an order affirming its January 13, 2012 order, CABR 150. Mrs. Gibbons appealed the Department's May 22, 2012 order, which affirmed the Department's denial of widow's benefits, to the Board, CABR 53. This appeal was granted. CABR at 298.

After the scheduling of the case, Boeing moved for summary judgment claiming that Mrs. Gibbons is precluded from obtaining a widow's pension because Mr. Gibbons had voluntarily retired, the Department denied her claim for widow's pension on June 26, 2008, and post-mortem litigation resulted in a judgment finding Mr. Gibbons

permanently partially disabled as of his death and all of these determinations were res judicata. CABR at 96-104.

Following briefing and argument, an Industrial Appeals Judge issued a proposed decision and order granting Boeing's motion for summary judgment holding that Mrs. Gibbons was not entitled to widow's benefits because Mr. Gibbons did not die during a period of permanent total disability and Mr. Gibbons died from a condition unrelated to his September 24, 1988 industrial injury. CABR at 40-9.

Mrs. Gibbons petitioned the Board to review the proposed decision and order and the Board ultimately upheld the summary judgment ruling in favor of Boeing, thereby affirming the Department's May 22, 2012 order that affirmed the Department's January 13, 2012 order that denied Mrs. Gibbon's application for widow's benefits. CABR 2-4. The Board's decision was appealed to the King County Superior Court.

Following briefing and argument, the Honorable Julia L. Garratt found that the Board's granting of Boeing's motion for summary judgment was proper and affirmed the Board's decision. Mrs. Gibbons has appealed this decision to the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division one.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The initial step in seeking review of a decision of the Department is to appeal that decision to the Board. RCW 51.52.060. At the Board, the

appealing party, in this case Mrs. Gibbons, had the burden of presenting a prima facie case for the relief it seeks. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a).

However, when a motion for summary judgment is filed, the burden is on the party seeking summary judgment to establish its right to judgment as a matter of law, and the court must consider facts and reasonable inferences from the facts in favor of the nonmoving party. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998). In this case, Boeing, the non-appealing party at the Board filed for summary judgment and had the burden of establishing its right to the judgment it sought. Summary judgment is appropriate when the facts are not in dispute and therefore, the issue is one of law. CR 56(c). If the moving party does not sustain its burden, summary judgment should not be granted. *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp.*, 110 Wn.2d 912, 915, 757 P.2d 507 (1988).

When deciding an appeal from a decision of the Board, the Superior Court conducts a de novo review of the Board's decision but relies exclusively on the certified board record. RCW 51.52.115. The Board's findings and decision are prima facie correct and the party challenging the decision has the burden of proof. *Id.* The presumption of correctness is a limited one, meaning that the decision will be overturned if the trier of fact finds from a preponderance of the credible evidence that

the findings and decision of the Board are incorrect. *Cantu v. Dep't of Labor and Inclus.*, 168 Wn. App. 14, 20-21, 277 P.3d 685 (2012) (internal citations omitted) *see also* RCW 51.52.115. Only if it finds the evidence to be equally balanced does the presumption require the findings to stand. *Id.* 

Unlike other administrative decisions, under the Industrial Insurance Act. the Court of Appeals reviews appeals from the Superior Courts in the same fashion as other civil cases. RCW 51.52.140; *Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 166 Wn. App. 859, 863, 271 P.3d 381 (2012).

In reviewing the decision from the Superior Court, the role of the Court of Appeals is to determine whether the trial court's findings, to which error is assigned, are supported by substantial evidence and whether conclusions of law flow therefrom. *Grimes v. Lakeside Industries*, 78 Wn. App. 554, 560, 897 P.2d 431 (1995). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *See Adams v. Great Am. Ins. Co.*, 87 Wn. App. 883, 887, 942 P.2d 1087 (1997) (Superior court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo). A superior court's granting of summary judgment, or here the court's upholding the Board's granting of summary judgment, is reviewed de novo. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998).

Here, there is a legal question to be reviewed de novo. Namely, whether summary judgment was properly granted by the Board and affirmed by the Superior Court such that Boeing is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. There is also a question as to whether there is substantial evidence to support the Superior Court's findings of fact

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. Introduction.

This case arises under the Industrial Insurance Act which was established to protect and provide benefits for injured workers. It has been held for many years that the courts and the Board are committed to the rule that the Act is remedial in nature and its beneficial purpose should be liberally construed in favor of the beneficiaries. Wilher v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.. 61 Wn.2d 439, 446, 378 P.2d 684 (1963); Hastings v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.. 24 Wn.2d 1, 163 P.2d 142 (1945); Nelson v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.. 9 Wn.2d 621, 115 P.2d 1014 (1941); Hilding v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.. 162 Wash, 168, 298 P. 321 (1931).

Furthermore, RCW 51.04.010 declares that "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents is hereby provided regardless of questions of fault." Similarly, RCW 51.12.010 indicates that the Act "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising

from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." Thus, any doubts that arise when interpreting or applying the Act must be resolved in favor of the worker. *Clauson v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 130 Wn.2d 580, 584, 925 P.2d 624 (1996).

## B. There Remain Genuine Issues of Material Fact Precluding Summary Judgment.

Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). The burden is on the party seeking summary judgment to establish its right to judgment as a matter of law, and the court *must* consider facts and reasonable inferences from the facts in favor of nonmoving party. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. at 354 (emphasis added). Here, the nonmoving party is Mrs. Gibbons.

An order granting summary judgment will be affirmed if there are no genuine issues of material fact, i.e., if from all of the evidence reasonable persons could only reach one conclusion and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn. App. 110, 117, 951 P.2d 321 (1998).

Here, a genuine issue of material fact exists, as it relates to Mrs. Gibbons application for widow's benefits, concerning Mr. Gibbons' death and his industrial injury. Summary judgment should not have been granted as Boeing did not meet its burden.

The Superior Court entered a finding of fact that Mr. Gibbons died from a condition unrelated to his industrial injury. That condition was lung cancer. However, there is absolutely no evidence establishing that this condition was unrelated to Mr. Gibbons' industrial injury. As the moving party. Boeing had the obligation to show that there was no question of fact as to Mr. Gibbons' death and its relationship to his industrial injury. Boeing did not meet this burden.

In its motion for summary judgment, Boeing stated "John Gibbons died on August 1, 2005. Exhibit F. His death was unrelated to the industrial injury." CABR at 98. The only evidence offered by Boeing to support this crucial assertion concerning Mr. Gibbons' death was a snippet of testimony, at Exhibit F, which was presented to the Board in the appeal of the June 2, 2006 closing order concerning Mr. Gibbons' estate's entitlement to benefits for Mr. Gibbons wherein Mrs. Gibbons testified that her husband died on August 1, 2005. CABR at 124. There was no evidence offered to support the medical determination that Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to the industrial injury.

The cause of Mr. Gibbons' death is a medical question upon which only a doctor is competent to testify. *Porter v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 51 Wn.2d 634, 636, 320 P.2d 1099 (1958). Boeing having failed to establish through any evidence, much less medical evidence from a doctor, that the cause of Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to his industrial injury, the burden to rebut this evidence would not shift to Mrs. Gibbons. It was improper for summary judgment to be granted on Mrs. Gibbons' entitlement to widow's benefits because Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to his industrial injury. *See White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., P.S.*, 61 Wn. App. 163, 170, 810 P.2d 4 (1991) (If the moving party does not met its initial burden, summary judgment may not be entered, regardless of whether the opposing party responded.). There remains a question of fact on this issue.

Similarly, there remains a question of fact, as it relates to Mrs. Gibbons' entitlement to widow's benefits, concerning Mr. Gibbons' employability and the nature of his disability at the time of his death on August 1, 2005. While it is true that in 2011 the Superior Court determined what Mr. Gibbons', or his estate's, entitlement to benefits under his claim was as of the Department's closing order dated June 2, 2006, that determination is a separate and distinct determination from Mrs. Gibbons' entitlement to widow's benefits.

The fact that Mr. Gibbons was determined to have voluntarily retired and was not receiving a pension, i.e. permanent total disability benefits, does not render Mrs. Gibbons ineligible for widow's benefits. See Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 166 Wn. App. 859, 866, 271 P.3d 381 (2012).

The *Mason* Court held that the fact that pension benefits are not available to a voluntarily retired worker does not result in the conclusion that death benefits, such as a widow's pension, are not available to the surviving spouse of a voluntarily retired worker. *Mason*, 166 Wn. App. at 864-67.

In reaching that holding the *Mason* Court observed that "a surviving spouse's lifetime pension is different in character from the worker's wage replacement benefits...[A] worker's benefit benefits the worker...[while] a survivor's benefit benefits the survivor." *Mason*, 166 Wn. App. at 866-67. In other words, widow's benefits are different in character from an injured worker's pension benefits while the worker is living. The Court points out that while a worker who has voluntarily retired can choose to return to work, a surviving spouse has no way to reverse the deceased spouse's voluntary retirement. *Id.*; *cf.* WAC 296-14-100(1)(b). Therefore, an injured worker's voluntary retirement from the

workforce is irrelevant to the issue of whether the injured worker's spouse is eligible for, or entitled to, a widow's pension.

In further examining the impact of an injured worker's voluntary retirement upon a surviving spouse's eligibility for widow's benefits, the *Mason* Court highlighted another difference between a widow's pension and an injured worker's pension benefits during life, namely, an injured worker cannot waive the surviving spouse's rights to benefits. *Mason*, 166 Wn. App. at 866-67; see also Kilpatrick v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 125 Wn.2d 222, 228, 883 P.2d 1370 (1994).

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