#### NO. 72335-9-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN R. GIBBONS, DEC'D,

Appellant,

v.

THE BOEING COMPANY AND DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3820



# ORIGINAI

#

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

3

Logically, if Mr. Gibbons was partially disabled on June 2, 2006, which was nearly a year after his death, he was likewise partially disabled on the date of his death. The nature of his disability could not have improved after death. He could not have been totally disabled at death but only partially disabled several months later. Accordingly, given the jury's binding determination, it is res judicata that Mr. Gibbons was permanently partially disabled, not permanently totally disabled, at death.

Because it is res judicata that Mr. Gibbons was only permanently partially disabled at the time of his death, Ms. Gibbons cannot obtain death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1). Permanent partial and permanent total disabilities are mutually exclusive. When a worker is permanently disabled "the worker receives *either a pension or a* 

permanent partial disability award." Hubbard v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 140 Wn.2d 35, 37 n.1, 992 P.2d 1002 (2000) (emphasis added); see also Stone v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 172 Wn. App. 256, 262, 289 P.3d 720 (2012). A final closing order awarding permanent partial disability makes it res judicata that the worker's disability at the time of the order was only partial, not total. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 766. It establishes that the worker was capable of at least some form of gainful employment as of the date that his claim was closed. *See id*.

3

Ms. Gibbons incorrectly asserts that there was no reason for her to present evidence that her husband was totally and permanently disabled when she appealed the June 2, 2006 closing order. App. Br. 17. In her view, she did not need to present such evidence because Mr. Gibbons had previously been determined to be a voluntarily retired worker, and a voluntarily retired worker cannot receive permanent total disability benefits. App. Br. 17.

As explained in the next section, Ms. Gibbons is correct that a voluntarily retired worker cannot receive permanent total disability benefits. *See* RCW 51.32.060(6), .090(10); *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765. But it does not follow that she had no reason to litigate whether her husband was totally permanently disabled at death when she appealed the closing order. Her ability to receive death benefits under RCW

51.32.067(1) depends entirely on her husband's disability status at death. It is a derivative death benefit. *See Kilpatrick*, 125 Wn.2d at 228 (a survivor's claim is derivative of the worker's claim for determining the applicable benefit schedule).

,

Ms. Gibbons had the opportunity to litigate the issue of her husband's total permanent disability when she appealed the closing order. She declined this opportunity for strategic reasons—namely, because she did not believe that she would be able to establish her husband's total and permanent disability because he had voluntarily retired. But the fact that Ms. Gibbons would have been unsuccessful in her appeal on this issue does not mean she lacked the opportunity to litigate it. Res judicata applies to issues that could have been litigated but that were not. *Chavez*, 129 Wn. App. at 239. Her strategic decision not to litigate total permanent disability binds her in the instant appeal and precludes her from receiving death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1).

#### D. Mr. Gibbons Voluntarily Retired Before He Died, Which Is an Independent Basis for Concluding That Ms. Gibbons Is Not Entitled to Death Benefits Under RCW 51.32.067(1)

Ms. Gibbons is also not entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1) because this Court previously determined that her husband voluntarily retired from the workforce, and she has presented no evidence that he ever attempted to return to the workforce after he voluntarily

retired. See BR 106. A worker who voluntarily retires from the workforce is not entitled to permanent total disability benefits. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765. Therefore, because Mr. Gibbons was voluntarily retired, he could not be considered a totally and permanently disabled worker at his death, and Ms. Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1).

.

"Voluntary retirement" is a legal term of art in the workers' compensation context. A voluntarily retired worker is one who voluntarily detaches himself or herself from the work force and who ceases to engage in any form of employment related activity despite having the ability to work in some fashion at that time. *See Energy Nw. v. Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. 454, 466, 199 P.3d 1043 (2009); *Farr*, 70 Wn. App at 765-66, 768; *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. 291, 295, 788 P.2d 8 (1990). A worker is voluntarily retired if (1) the worker is not receiving income, salary, or wages from any gainful employment, and (2) the worker has provided no evidence to show a bona fide attempt to return to work after retirement. *See* WAC 296-14-100; *see also Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 763-67; *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. 295-96.

The Industrial Insurance Act bars workers who have voluntarily retired from receiving benefits that are intended to replace lost wages during periods of work-related disability. Wage replacement benefits

include temporary total disability benefits, also referred to as time-loss compensation, which replace the wages of workers who are unable to work for a finite period of time due to the residuals of an industrial injury. See RCW 51.32.090; *see Hubbard*, 140 Wn.2d at 37 n.1; *Lightle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 68 Wn.2d 507, 510, 413 P.2d 814 (1966); *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296. Wage replacement benefits also include permanent total disability benefits, also referred to as pension benefits. *See Williams v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr.*, 75 Wn. App. 582, 586-87, 880 P.2d 539 (1994); *Farr*, 70 Wn. App at 765; *see also Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 296.

,

Both RCW 51.32.090, the statute governing temporary total disability benefits, and RCW 51.32.060, the statute governing permanent total disability benefits, provide that a worker who voluntarily retires and withdraws from the work force is ineligible for those forms of benefits. RCW 51.32.060(6), .090(10); *see also* WAC 296-14-100. This is because, once a worker has removed himself or herself from the workforce, the worker has no wages to replace, and therefore, is ineligible for wage replacement benefits whether he or she has the capacity to work.

Mr. Gibbons removed himself from the work force in 1993 and ceased all employment-related activity at a time when he was capable of obtaining and performing some form of gainful employment. In 2001, this Court determined that he had voluntarily retired and noted that he had not

worked or sought work since he retired in 1993. BR 106-10. Since there is no evidence that he ever attempted to return to work after having voluntarily removed himself from the work force, he is ineligible for permanent total disability benefits as a matter of law. *See Farr*, 70 Wn. App at 766; WAC 296-14-100. Because he could not have received pension benefits at the time of his death, neither can Ms. Gibbons receive death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1).

٠

Ms. Gibbons appears to concede that her husband voluntarily retired before his death. See App. Br. 15-17. She acknowledges that "Mr. Gibbons could not receive pension benefits as a result of his voluntary retirement . . . ." App. Br. 16. And she cites no evidence from her response to Boeing's motion for summary judgment that would create an issue of material fact that her husband had attempted to return to the workforce after this Court determined that he was voluntarily retired. See App. Br. 14-17.

Instead, Ms. Gibbons cites Mason for the proposition that "[t]he fact that Mr. Gibbons was determined to have voluntarily retired and was not receiving a pension, i.e. permanent total disability benefits, does not render Mrs. Gibbons ineligible for widow's benefits." App. Br. 15. This argument is misplaced.

Ms. Gibbons's reading of Mason once again fails to distinguish between death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1) and death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). It is true that a finding of voluntary retirement does not preclude death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a) because the question under that statute is whether the death resulted from the work injury. A worker can voluntarily retire from the work force but later die as a result of the work injury, which would entitle the surviving spouse to death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). Indeed, this is precisely what occurred in Mason. See 166 Wn. App. at 862, 871. But a finding of voluntary retirement precludes death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1) because it means, as a matter of law, that Mr. Gibbons was not a permanently and totally disabled worker at the time of his death. And if a worker is not permanently and totally disabled at death, the surviving spouse does not receive benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1).

,

Mason applies only to death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a), not to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1). The worker in Mason filed a claim in 1988 for a lung condition caused by exposure at work to asbestos and caustic chemicals. 166 Wn. App. at 862. He had already voluntarily retired from the work force in 1986. Id. It was undisputed that the worker's work-related lung condition caused his death. See id. at 871. Because the worker died from a work-related asbestos and chemical exposure, the death benefit provision in former RCW 51.32.050 applied. See id. at 861, 865 n. 7. The Mason Court specifically noted that when it used the term "death benefits," it was referring to the benefits in former RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). See id.at 865 n.7.

خر

The Mason Court did not cite or discuss the death benefits authorized by RCW 51.32.067(1). Nor did it need to. That statute did not apply because the worker did not die "from a cause unrelated to the injury." To the contrary, the worker in Mason died from his work injury. See id. at 871. The issue in Mason was how to harmonize former RCW 51.32.050 with the statute defining occupational disease (RCW 51.32.180) when determining how to calculate the amount of the death benefit that the surviving spouse would receive under former RCW 51.32.050. See id. at 861.

Given Mason's context in which the worker died from the work injury, Ms. Gibbons misunderstands the Court's statements that "a surviving spouse's lifetime pension is different in character from the worker's wage replacement benefits" and "[A] worker's benefit benefits the worker and a survivor's benefit benefits the survivor." See App. Br. 15 (citing Mason, 166 Wn. App. at 866-67). The "survivor's benefit" and "lifetime pension" that the Court was referring to are the death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). Unlike the benefits available to a surviving spouse under RCW 51.32.067(1), which derive from a finding that the worker is totally and permanently disabled, the death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a) are not wage replacement benefits but rather an independent benefit to the surviving spouse.

...

Thus, although an injured worker's voluntary retirement is irrelevant to whether the surviving spouse is entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a), it is directly relevant to whether the worker was totally and permanently disabled at the time of death, which is the basis for death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1). Contra App. Br. 15-16; see Mason, 166 Wn. App. at 865 (noting that the Legislature did not add a voluntary retirement provision to RCW 51.32.050). Ms. Gibbons's reliance on Kilpatrick is likewise misplaced because that case involved death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a), not RCW 51.32.067(1).

Contrary to Ms. Gibbons's arguments, there is no question of fact concerning her husband's "employability subsequent to the determination of his being a voluntarily retired worker in 2001, as it relates to Ms. Gibbons application for a widow's pension." App. Br. 17. She presented no evidence that her husband attempted to return to the work force after he voluntarily retired. See BR 171-201. Thus, he remained a voluntarily retired worker until his death such that he was not totally and permanently disabled at death. Therefore, she cannot receive death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1).

#### E. Ms. Gibbons Is Not Entitled to Death Benefits Under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a) Because Her Husband Died From Lung Cancer, Not as a Result of His Back Injury At Work

Mr. Gibbons died from lung cancer in 2005. BR 192. The physician who signed the death certificate noted that tobacco use contributed to the death, and she did not note any other causes. BR 192. She noted a short interval of 3 months between onset and death. BR 192. Because Mr. Gibbons's twisting back injury in 1988 did not cause the 2005 onset of his lung cancer, Ms. Gibbons is not entitled to benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a).

A worker's surviving spouse is entitled to monthly death benefits when "death results from the injury." RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). Here, Gibbons argues that a genuine issue of material fact remains as to whether his work injury caused metastatic lung cancer. *See* App. Br. 13-14. Although he is correct that Boeing did not present any evidence on his cause of his death in its motion for summary judgment, it strains credulity to suggest that Mr. Gibbons's twisting injury of the back in 1988, which resulted in low back and digestive tract impairment, caused the onset of metastatic lung cancer in 2005, especially when there is evidence in the record that tobacco use contributed to his death. *See* BR 192. The death certificate supports a reasonable inference that Mr. Gibbons's death was not related to his work injury. Further, Ms. Gibbons did not present any medical evidence in her response to summary judgment to suggest that the back injury caused lung cancer. *See* BR 171-201. The summary judgment record as a whole supports the superior court's ruling.

## F. Because This Case Was Resolved on Summary Judgment, This Court Need Not Review the Superior Court's Findings for Substantial Evidence but, In Any Case, Substantial Evidence Supports the Challenged Findings

This Court need not review the superior court findings that Ms. Gibbons challenges for lack of substantial evidence. This case was resolved on summary judgment at the Board, and the superior court's role was limited to determining whether the grant of summary judgment was correct. *See* RCW 51.52.115.

In any case, substantial evidence supports the challenged factual findings for which Ms. Gibbons provides argument. Substantial evidence supports the superior court's finding of fact 2.C that Mr. Gibbons remained voluntarily retired through his death. *See* App. Br. 3, 18. This Court determined in 2001 that he was voluntarily retired and had not worked or sought work since 1993. BR 106-110. Ms. Gibbons provided no evidence that he attempted to return to the work force. *See* BR 171-201.

Additionally, substantial evidence supports finding of fact 2.D that Mr. Gibbons's death was unrelated to the industrial injury. *See* App. Br. 3, 18. He injured his back at work in 1988 but died from lung cancer in 2005. The physician noted that tobacco use contributed to his death but did not record any other cause. BR 192.

Ms. Gibbons also assigns error to finding of fact 2.B about the date and nature of her husband's work injury and the fact that it proximately caused low back and lower digestive tract injuries. App Br. 3. But she provides no argument as to why this finding is not supported by substantial evidence. *Compare* App Br. 3 *with* App. Br. 17-19. Therefore, it is waived. *See* RAP 10.3(a)(6); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

The remaining findings that Ms. Gibbons challenges (finding of facts 2, 2.A, and 2.F) are conclusions of law and should be reviewed as such. App. Br. 2-3; *see Scott's Excavating Vancouver, LLC v. Winlock Props., LLC*, 176 Wn. App. 335, 342, 308 P.3d 791 (2013), *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1011 (2014). For the reasons previously explained, the trial court properly determined that Mr. Gibbons was permanently partially disabled, not totally permanently disabled, at death. And the trial court properly determined that no genuine issues of material fact remained that precluded summary judgment in Boeing's favor.

#### G. Ms. Gibbons Is Not Entitled to Attorney Fees

This Court should reject Ms. Gibbons's request for attorney fees. See App. Br. 19. Any fees are available only for services before the court and are available only if (1) the Board decision is "reversed or modified" and (2) "additional relief is granted to" Ms. Gibbons. RCW 51.52.130(1) (emphasis added); Jenkins v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 143 Wn. App. 246, 257, 177 P.3d 180 (2008).

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